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Foreword zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
General Kenney Reports is a classic account of a combat com- 

mander in action. General George Churchill Kenney arrived in the South- 
west Pacific theater in August zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942 to find that his command, if not in a 

shambles, was in dire straits. The theater commander, General Douglas 

MacArthur, had no confidence in his air element. Kenney quickly 
changed this situation. He organized and energized the Fifth Air Force, 
bringing in operational commanders like Whitehead and Wurtsmith who 
knew how to run combat air forces. He fixed the logistical swamp, mak- 

ing supply and maintenance supportive of air operations, and encouraging 
mavericks such as Pappy Gunn to make new and innovative weapons and 

to explore new tactics in airpower application. 
The result was a disaster for the Japanese. Kenney’s airmen used air 

power-particularly heavily armed B-25 Mitchell bombers used as com- 
merce destroyers-to savage Japanese supply lines, destroying numerous 

ships and effectively isolating Japanese garrisons. The classic example of 
Kenney in action was the Battle of the Bismarck Sea, which marked the 
attainment of complete Allied air dominance and supremacy over Japa- 
nese naval forces operating around New Guinea. 

In short, Kenney was a brilliant, innovative airman, who drew on 
his own extensive flying experiences to inform his decision-making. Gen- 
eral Kenney Reports is a book that has withstood the test of time, and 
which should be on the shelf of every airman. 

RICHARD P. HALLION 
Air Force Historian 





Preface 

Few men contributed more to the defeat of the Axis in World War 
11, or to the innovation in warfare known as air power, than General 
George C. Kenney. From the day in August zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942 when he assumed com- 
mand of U.S. Army and Allied air forces in the Southwest Pacific Area to 
the final battles of the war against Japan in 1945, Kenney succeeded in 
providing the aerial support without which the land and naval campaigns 

could not have been won. 
The obstacles confronting him were formidable. His forces were 

thin and his commander, Douglas MacArthur, unrelenting in his determi- 
nation to take the offense. Not only ‘were the Japanese at first stronger, 
but distance, climate, logistics and the low priority of the theater in 

American grand strategy all conspired to make virtually every air opera- 
tion a major undertaking. But George Kenney was a scrapper. He under- 
stood thoroughly the strengths and limitations of his men and equipment. 
He was an annovator, daring to modify aircraft and tactics to outwit and 
deceive the enemy. He was a leader, demanding but supportive of his 
commanders, encouraging to his aircrews, and consistent in his effort to 
provide his men some comforts against the rigor of combat and fatigue in 
a hostile clime. Most of all, he was a thinker who understood how to or- 
ganize his forces, how to mass them, how to achieve air superiority, and 
then how to exploit the skies to achieve the broader purposes of a cam- 

In this fast-paced narrative published in 1949, Kenney tells the story 
of the Southwest Pacific air war. First, he had to gain the confidence of 

his a boss. At their initial meeting, MacArthur recounted a long list of 
complaints against the air forces. After a half hour, Kenney interrupted. 
“I decided it was time for me to lay my cards on the table. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA. . .I told him 
that as long as he had enough confidence . . . the Air Force , . . would pro- 
duce results. . . .I would be loyal, too. If at any time this could not be 
maintained . . . I would be packed up and ready for the orders sending me 
back home.” 

paign- 



“George,” MacArthur responded, “I think we are going to get along 
together all right.” 

Kenney then established the freedom to operate and support his 
forces as needed. He took the war to the Japanese. Almost immediately, 
he began experimenting with ordnance, changing fuzes to skip bomb 

Japanese ships, and wrapping bombs in wire so that air bursts would 
chew up Japanese planes parked in dirt revetments. For the next two 
years, he schemed day and night to wipe out the Japanese air forces, and 
he did it as much by guile and deception as by superior numbers. At the 
same time, his forces transported ground units and gave them fire sup- 
port, pounded enemy shipping in order to interdict forces coming into 
battle, and provided crucial reconnaissance and intelligence to command- 
ers at all echelons. It was a constant juggling act, not made any easier by 

geography or by the command arrangements in the Pacific, which in zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
1942-43 made the Solomons area a separate theater and which through- 
out divided the American effort between MacArthur’s Southwest Pacific 
Area and Admiral Chester Nimitz’s Central Pacific command. Nor was 
Kenney ever allotted enough in the way of resources. Three times he 
journeyed to Washington to plead for more aircraft, and three times he 
wheedled more out of a War Department reluctant to divert precious pro- 
duction from the main effort of the war: Europe. But Kenney made the 
most of what he got. He persevered and he succeeded. In the end, Ameri- 
can forces-by means of control of the air (and thus of the sea)-were 

able to bypass enemy garrisons, and so weaken the enemy, that the 
Americans were poised to invade Japan itself without ever having had to 
fight the bulk of the Japanese Army. 

The Office of Air Force History is reprinting General Kenney’s 
memoir for use by the Department of Defense because of the book’s 
value for today. While readers should ignore Kenney’s characterization 
of the enemy (the book was written immediately following a war of un- 
usual bitterness, by a man whose own personal involvement was intense), 

they should see in these pages a virtual textbook of theater command of 
air forces. How Kenney patterned his operations, how he related to 
ground and naval counterparts, his innovations, his daring to undertake 

the unconventional, his leadership style, and all speak to issues of impor- 
tance to the military establishment in the 1980s and beyond. In addition, 
Kenney’s experience provides a stimulating reminder that no war is ever 
as we expect it, and no commander is ever prepared quite perfectly for 
the conditions he will face. 



In preparing this new imprint of General Kenney’s memoir, we 
have preserved the original version of the book in its entirety. The origi- 
nal publishers, Duell, Sloan, Pearce of New York, added an introduction 
to the book. This material, based on wartime press releases, contempo- 
rary journalism, and General Kenney’s own words, conveys the spirit of 
the time and places in wider context the observations in the narrative it- 
self. The cover art of an Army Air Forces B-25 attacking a Japanese ves- 
sel was designed by Mary Walden of Air Force Central Graphics. 

RICHARD H. KOHN 



As Commanding General of Allied Air Forces, Southwest Pacific 
Area, and Commander, Fifth zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU.S. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAir Force, General George C. Ken- 
ney was a thinker who understood how to organize forces, mass 
them, achieve air superiority, and exploit the skies to achieve the 
broader purposes of a campaign. 
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A DOCUMENTARY INTRODUCTION zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
by the Publishers 

I .  zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAVITAL STATISTICS (adapted zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfrom Air Force releases) 

General George C. Kenney now commands The Air Uni- 
versity of the United States Air Force, Maxwell Air Force 
Base, Montgomery, Alabama. 

Born August 6, 1889, in Nova Scotia, where his family zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAwas 

vacationing, he was brought up in Brookline, Massachusetts. 
He attended grade and high schools in Brookline and spent 
three years at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 

As a lieutenant pilot in World War I, General Kenney flew 
seventy-five missions, shot down two German planes, and was 
once shot down himself. He ended the war as a captain with 
the Distinguished Service Cross and the Silver Star. 

As a peacetime officer, in the years from 1919 to 1939, he 
concentrated on aeronautical development and its application 
to warfare zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAas he slowly worked his way up the Army promo- 
tion ladder to the grade of lieutenant colonel. 

xi 



Introduction zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
From zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1939 to 1942 he served brief tours as Air Corps Ob- 

server with the Navy in the Caribbean; as Assistant Attache 
for zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAir at the American Embassy in Paris; as Commanding 
Officer, Air Corps Experimental Division and Engineering 
School, Wright Field, Ohio; and as Commanding Officer of 
the Fourth Air Force. 

In August 1942, General Kenney assumed command of the 
Allied Air Forces in the Southwest Pacific. The story of the 
next three years of his career-from his transfer to combat 
duty to the surrender of the Japanese-is encompassed in zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAGen- 
eral Kenney Reports. 

In December 1945 he was given an assignment with the 
Military Staff Committee of the United Nations, which took 
him from Washington to London to New York. 

On April I ,  I 946, he assumed command of the Strategic Air 
Command. 

In October I 948, he was transferred to the command of The 
Air University at  Maxwell Field. 

General Kenney has been awarded the Distinguished Serv- 
ice Cross with cluster; Distinguished Service Medal with clus- 
ter; Silver Star; Distinguished Flying Cross; Purple Heart; 
Honorary Knight Commander, Military Division, Order of 
the British Empire; Croix de Guerre, with palm (Belgium); 
Grand Officer of the Order of Leopold with palm (Belgium); 
Philippine Star; Military Order of Merit First Class of Guate- 
mala; Order of Orange-Nassau, degree of Grand Officer, with 
swords (Netherlands) zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA; William E. Mitchell Memorial Award 
( 1948) ; Croix de Guerre, with palm (France), and the French 
Legion of Honor, Rank of Commander. 

Although this array of awards and citations might seem to 

have set him apart in a rarefied atmosphere of military achieve- 
ment, General Kenney has always been known, particularly 
among the officers and enlisted men of the Fifth Air Force, as 

xii 

a soldier’s general.” zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(6 



lntroduction zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
2. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBACLOSE-UP OF A N  AIR GENERAL (excerpts from 

Time’s cover story zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAof January zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA18, 1943; reprinted here 
by special permission) 

Last week was the most successful week of the war in the 
Southwest Pacific. . . . Last week belonged to the airmen. 
The center of the week‘s action focused first on a drab sedan 
which lurched over the pocked and pitted track that winds 
from Jackson airdrome to Port Moresby. The thick red dust 
of New Guinea blurred its windows, but not the three white 
stars on its license plate. Spying the stars, half-naked troops, 
Australian and American, grinned and threw casual salutes. 
One of their favorite brass hats was home again: General 
George C. Kenney, Commanding General of Allied Air 
Forces, Southwest Pacific Area, and Commander, Fifth zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU. S. 
Air Force. 

The grins would have become cheers had the troops known 
what scrub-headed General Kenney was saying at that mo- 
ment: “Good, Whitey! Let’s smear ’em tomorrow.” 

“Whitey” was his deputy comc:ander, Brigadier General 
Ennis C. Whitehead. “ ’Em” was ,he Japanese concentration 
at Rabaul. . . . 

In five months in the Southwest Pacific, the man chiefly re- 
sponsible for the successes has ye: to have a day off, or even 
to want one. General Kenney’s office is wherever he and his 
aide are at the moment. Places are always laid for General 
Kenney at two luncheon tables, one at Port Moresby, the 
other nearly zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA2,000 miles south in Australia. Most weeks he 
manages to have several meals at each of them. Last week he 
had three lunches at his mainland headquarters, two with Mac- 
Arthur in New Guinea. . . . 

General Kenney was raised (to a height of 5 ft. 6 in.) in 
Brookline, Mass. H e  studied civil engineering at M. I. T., but 
left after three years to become an instrument man for Quebec 
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Saguenay Railroad. Then he became a civil engineer and a 
contractor. In zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1917 he enlisted in the U. S. Signal Corps as a 
private. He learned to fly under Bert Acosta, who was later to 
achieve fame as a transatlantic pilot. His first three landings 
were all dead stick, but he was notably successful once he got 
to France. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA. . . 

Between wars Kenney . . . went through the routine which 
is designed to round out an air general: War College, Supply, 
Air Corps Engineering School, instructor in observation. In 
France in 1940 he riled other military observers by recom- 
mending that the U. S. throw its Air Force into the ash- 
can. . . . 

Between times he experimented. George Kenney was the 
first man to fix machine guns in the wing of a plane: back in 
1922 he installed two .30-caliber Brownings in the wing of an 
old De Havilland. Kenney is the inventor of the parachute 
bomb, which enables bombing planes to fly lower, bomb more 
accurately. He invented this bomb in 1928. . . . 

“You’ve got to devise stuff like that,” Kenney says. “I’d 
studied all the books . . . and Buna was not in any of them.” 

The textbooks did not tell George Kenney what he would 
find in the Southwest Pacific. 

3. THE BIG PICTURE I N  THE PACIFIC zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(excerpts from 
a paper by General Kenney describing the first phase zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAof 

the war, up to  July zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942) 

On December 7, 1941, without warning and following the 
consistent pattern of her military tradition of dispensing with 
a formal declaration of war, Japan struck at Pearl Harbor. 

Shortly after daybreak, possessing exact: and accurate 
knowledge of its objective, and with each individual assigned 
a definite task and target, a superbly trained force of 360 
fighter and bomber aircraft launched its bombs on the big 
Hawaiian naval base and its protecting Army and Navy air 
installations. In less than an hour our Pacific fleet was out of 
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action, with most of its units heavily damaged or resting on the 
muddy floor of Pearl Harbor. The Air Forces left to defend 
Hawaii were a mere handful. Shops, hangars, depots, supplies, 
and aircraft had gone up in smoke from the bombing and straf- 
ing of an air attack that was a model of perfection and pre- 
cision. 

Japan was then ready to begin the march to the rich empire 
to the south-the Philippine Islands, the Netherlands East 
Indies, Malaya, Melanesia, through Burma to India and perhaps 
even to Australia and New Zealand-without fear of inter- 
ference by the United States Fleet, which up to then had been 
considered the strongest force in the Pacific. Nippon’s dream zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
of a Greater East Asia seemed ready for fulfillment. 

The tide of Japan’s conquest rolled on with a speed that 
seemed incredible to a paralyzed world. Almost coincident 
with the Pearl Harbor attack, a small American air force in the 
Philippines was knocked out of action and Japanese bombers 
appeared over Hong Kong and Singapore. Japanese fighter 
planes cleared the air of opposition and a flood of Japanese 
infantry, trained to the minute in amphibious warfare and 
schooled in the art of utilizing the jungle to aid them in over- 
coming the complacent and overconfident white man, poured 
into his Southeast Asia and East Indies holdings. Thailand be- 
came a satellite partner of Japan on December 8. T w o  days 
later, as Guam was being occupied by a Nipponese force that 
had sailed from Japan a week previously, the Prince of Wales 
and the Repulse, both first-line battleships of Britain’s Far 
Eastern Fleet, went to the bottom off the Malay coast. Japa- 
nese torpedo bombers had proved to the Royal Navy some- 
thing that it should have already known: surface craft cannot 
survive unless friendly aircraft control the air above them. 

On the 25th, the white man’s Christmas Day, Hong Kong, 
the Gibraltar of the East and a British colony for over a 
hundred years, fell to the Oriental conqueror. Wake Island 
had already gone on the ~ 3 r d .  On January 2,1942, Manila was zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

xv 
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occupied by the invaders, who had swarmed ashore on the 
main Philippine island of Luzon at Vigan and Aparri on De- 
cember zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA10, 1941, at  Legaspi on the 13th, and had landed in 
force at Lingayen Gulf on the zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA2 1st. That same month of Jan- 
uary saw the Japanese take over Borneo, the Celebes, Ambon, 
New Ireland, New Britain, and move into the Solomons and 
the Gilberts. By February, Japanese bombs were falling on 
Darwin in northern Australia and on Port Moresby the capital 
of Papua and key port on the south coast of New Guinea. 
Singapore crashed ignominiously on February I 5, with a Brit- 
ish garrison surrendering to an invading force of half its size. 
Timor was seized on February zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA20.  Portugal, the neutral owner 
of the eastern half of the island, was not consulted any more 
than were the belligerent Dutch, who owned the western half. 
Sumatra, Java, and the rest of the Netherlands East Indies went 
early in March. Japanese occupation of Lae and Salamaua, 
strategically important ports and air bases on the north coast 
of New Guinea on March 8, followed a day after Rangoon 
was evacuated by the British. Resistance to the brown con- 
queror seemed to have stopped. Generals and their staffs evac- 
uated themselves to India and Australia where they talked 
about last-ditch stands. Some of their troops got away with 
them. Most of them died in position or went to Japanese prison 
camps. 

A gallant stand in the Philippines on Bataan held up the con- 
solidation of the Nipponese empire for a while. On March 17, 
1942, General Douglas MacArthur and a small nucleus of his 
staff arrived in Australia to take over command of the Allied 
forces there. It had taken repeated orders from the President of 
the United States to get General MacArthur to leave his mixed 
American and Philippine command. Twenty-three days later, 
out of food and ammunition, weakened by dysentery and 
malaria, his successor, Wainwright, evacuated Bataan and 
moved the remnants of his forces to the island fortress of Cor- 
regidor at  the entrance to Manila Harbor, where he held out 
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Introduction zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
until May zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA6. America had lost everything in the Pacific west 
of Midway Island. 

Flushed with victory, the Japanese pushed southward into 
Bougainville Island and the northern Solomons. A Nipponese 
naval task force, backed up with troop transports, sailed south 
from Rabaul, now the main enemy base in New Britain, into 
the Coral Sea. The goal was Port Moresby, the key not only 
to southern New Guinea but the jumping-off point for the 
invasion of the east coast of Australia itself. Between May zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA4 

and 8, the Battle of the Coral Sea gave the Allies their first 
chance to take a real breath. Air reconnaissance had spotted 
the Japanese invasion force and had passed the word to zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa 

United States naval task force under Vice-Admiral Frank 
Fletcher which had been operating against the Japs occupying 
the important anchorage of Tulagi in the Solomons. Fletcher 
promptly moved into the Coral Sea to contact the enemy fleet. 
As soon as they were in range, both sides launched their carrier 
aircraft. Each side lost a carrier and some smaller vessels. The 
remaining carriers on each side were damaged sufficiently to 
put them out of action as far as this engagement was con- 
cerned. With one of his carriers sunk, one badly damaged, and 
most of his aircraft shot down, the Japanese Admiral Hinoue 
decided to abandon his mission and withdrew to Rabaul. For 
similar reasons our fleet withdrew south to New Caledonia. 
Tactically we had barely gained a draw, but strategically we 
had gained a real victory. Port Moresby had been saved from 
almost certain capture. A Japanese expedition had failed. It 
was the first one so far. Our most serious loss was the big air- 
craft carrier Lexington, but the price was small for the gain. 

On June 3 more American territory changed hands when 
the banner of the Rising Sun was hoisted over Attu, Agattu, 
and Kiska in the Aleutian Islands off Alaska. T w o  days later 
the Allies took another breath. This was a deep one. Four air- 
craft carriers, a heavy cruiser, and zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA2 7 5  airplanes was the price 
the Japanese paid for their failure to occupy the tiny island of 
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Midway, zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI zoo miles west of Pearl Harbor. A second Japanese 
expedition had failed. W e  lost the aircraft carrier Yorktown 
and a destroyer. Like the Battle of the Coral Sea, the Battle of 
Midway was an air show. No surface craft on either side fired 
a gun except at  enemy airplanes. 

July saw the tide reach its crest. Guadalcanal and Rekata 
Bay in the Solomons were occupied on July zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA6. On the 22nd a 
picked force of special Japanese landing troops seized the 
Buna-Gona area on the north coast of Papua and drove for the 
Kokoda Pass across the Owen Stanley mountain barrier pro- 
tecting Port Moresby. Kokoda fell on the 29th and, driving a 
tired Australian militia brigade back, the invaders headed for zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Port Moresby in a furious headlong rush that carried them to 
within thirty miles of the port. 

Here the tide turned. 
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I.  ASSIGNMENT zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT O  T H E  PACIFIC 

Jdy,  zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942 

IT WAS ten o’clock on the morning of July zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
7, 1942, at my headquarters in San Francisco where I was 
commanding the Fourth Air Force. I had just finished reading zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
a long report concerning the exploits of one of my young 
pilots who had been looping the loop around the center span 
of the Golden Gate Bridge in a P-38 fighter plane and waving 
to the stenographic help in the office buildings as he flew along 
Market Street. The report noted that, while it had been ex- 
tremely difficult to get information from the somewhat sym- 
pathetic and probably conniving witnesses, there was plenty 
of evidence proving that a large part of the waving had been 
to people on some of the lower floors of the buildings. 

A woman on the outskirts of Oakland was quoted as saying 
that she didn’t need any help from my fighter pilots in remov- 
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ing her washing from the clotheslines unless they would like 
to do it on the ground. 

Considering the mass of evidence, it was surprising that 
more complaints had not been registered, but in any event zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI 
would have to do something about the matter. Washington 
was determined to stop low-altitude stunting and had put out 
some stringent instructions about how to handle the budding 
young aviators who broke the rules. The investigating officer 
had recommended a General Court-Martial. 

I had sent word to the pilot’s commander that I wanted to 
see the lad in my office, and I was expecting him at any min- 
ute. My secretary opened the door and said, “Your bad boy is 
outside. You remember-the one you wanted to see about fly- 
ing around bridges and down Market Street.” 

I said to send him in. I heard her say, “The General will see 
you now, Lieutenant,” and in walked one of the nicest-looking 
cherubs you ever saw in your life. I suspected that he was not 
over eighteen and maybe even younger. I doubted if he was 
old enough to shave. H e  was just a little blond-haired Nor- 
wegian boy about five feet zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsix, with a round, pink baby facc 
and the bluest, most innocent eyes-now opened wide and a 

bit scared. Someone must have just told him how serious this 
court-martial thing might be. H e  wanted to fly and he wanted 
to get into the war and do his stuff , but now he was finding out 
that they really were tough about this low-altitude ‘buzzing’ 
business and it was dawning on him that the commanders all 
had orders really to bear down on young aviators who flew 
down streets and rattled dishes in people’s houses. Why, he 
might be taken off flying status or even thrown out of the Air 
Force! He  wasn’t going to try to alibi out of it, but he sure 
hoped this General Kenney wasn’t going to be too rough. You 
could actually see all this stuff going on in his head just behind 
those baby-blue eyes. H e  didn’t know it, but he had already ‘ 
won. 

I let him stand a t  attention while I bawled him out for get- 

‘ 
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ting himself in trouble, and getting me in trouble, too, besides 
giving people the impression that the Air Force was just a lot 
of irresponsible airplane jockeys. He  could see that he was in 
trouble just by looking at the size and thickness of the pile of 
papers on my desk that referred to his case. But think zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAof all 
the trouble he had made for me. Now, in order to quiet down 
the people who didn’t approve of his exuberance, I would have 
to talk to the Governor, the Mayor, the Chief of Police. Luck- 
ily I knew a lot of people in San Francisco who could be talked 
into a state of forgiveness, but I had a job of looking after the 
Fourth Air Force and I should spend my time doing that in- 
stead of running around explaining away the indiscretions of 
my wild-eyed pilots. 

“By the way, wasn’t the air pretty rough down in that street 
around the second-story level?” I was really a bit curious. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAs 
I remembered, it used to be, when I was first learning to fly. 

“Yes, sir, it was kind of rough,” replied the cherub, “but it 
was easy to control the plane. The  aileron control is good in 
the P-38 and-” H e  paused. Probably figured he had said 
enough. For a second, the blue eyes had been interested more 
than scared. H e  was talking about his profession and it was 
more than interest. It was his life, his ambition. I would bet 
anything that he was an expert in a P-38 and that he wanted to 
be still better. W e  needed kids like this lad. 

“Lieutenant,” I said, “there is no need for me to tell you 
again that this is a serious matter. If you didn’t want to fly 
down Market Street, I wouldn’t have you in my Air Force, 
but you are not to do it any more and I mean what I say. From 
now on, if I hear any more reports of this kind about you, I’ll 
put you before a General Court and if they should recom- 
mend dismissal from the service, which they probably would, 
I’ll approve it.” 

I began slowly to tear up the report and drop the pieces of 
paper in the waste basket. The blue eyes watched, a little puz- 
zled a t  first, and then the scared look began to die out. 
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“Monday morning you check in at this address out in Oak- 

land and if that  woman has any washing to be hung out on 
the line, you do it for her. Then you hang around being useful 
-mowing a lawn or something-and when the clothes are 
dry, take them off the line and bring them into the house. And 
don’t drop any of them on the ground or you will have to 
wash them over again. I want that woman to think we are 
good for something besides annoying people. Now get out of 
here quick before I get mad and change my mind. That’s all.” 

“Yes, sir.” He  didn’t dare to change his expression, but the 
blue eyes had gone all soft and relieved. H e  saluted and backed 
out of the office. The next time I saw Lieutenant Richard I. 
Bong was in Australia. 

I was still chuckling to myself over the zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAlook on that kid’s 
face as he watched me tearing up the charges against him and 
thinking how wonderful it would be to be twenty-two and 
a lieutenant flying a P-38 instead of fifty-two and a general 
looking after a whole Air Force, when the light flashed on 
the direct telephone line from my desk to General ‘Hap’ 
Arnold, the head of the Army Air Forces in Washington. 

Hap believed in working directly with his commanders. He 
made quick decisions and he demanded immediate action. 
Once in a while, when his staff had given zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhim insufficient in- 
formation, his decisions would be wrong. If you had the real 
facts at your fingertips and could present the case briefly and 
correctly, you could argue with Hap, but your argument had 
better be good if you wished to emerge from the ‘brawl’ un- 
scathed. O n  the other hand, while the interview might be, and 
generally was, exceedingly stormy, if you put across your 
point he would reverse his decision immediately and correct 
the situation. 

I remember once hearing Hap say that if he had a hundred 
problems put up to him in a day he would make one hundred 
decisions that day. Fifty of them would be good decisions. The zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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other fifty might range from good to fair to poor. Before the 
day was over he would find out about most of these and cor- 
rect them, but some days he might make twenty-five that were 
not so good and he’d just have to take the blame for them 
later on. 

While he and I have had lots of arguments, and the finish on 
a lot of desk tops has suffered in the process, I like to work for 
a man who will make decisions. If he is right three times out of 
four, his batting average is far better than most. Hap and I 
understood each other, we respected each other’s judgment 
and were strong personal friends of over twenty years’ stand- 
ing. H e  called me almost daily about a multitude of matters, 
some big, some little, and sometimes, I suspected, just to blow 
off a little excess steam. Hap lived with the throttle well open 
most of the time. I wondered what was on his mind now. 

“George, I’m keeping my promise to you. Pack up and be 
in my office at eight o’clock Monday morning. That’s the 
twelfth. I’ll give you all the dope then. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI can’t tell you any 
mbre on the phone. Tell me, who do you recommend to take 
over your job?” 

I knew this meant that I was leaving the command of the 
Fourth Air Force for another job. I had three brigadier gen- 
erals under me, but Barney Giles was my choice if one of them 
was to succeed me. I told Hap that I wanted to turn the job 
over to Giles but that he would have to get out some special 
orders from Washington as Barney was outranked by both 
the other brigadier generals. 

Hap said okay and that he would get the orders out right 
away. W e  said goodbye and I told him I would be in his office 
on Monday morning. 

Back in 1940, General Arnold had ordered me to the Air 
Corps Materiel Division at  Wright Field, Dayton, Ohio, to 
look after the aircraft-production program, which was being 
stepped up to increase our air strength, and to coordinate the 
stepped-up output with the huge orders then being placed in 
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this country by the British and French. At that time I had re- 
marked to him that, the way things were going, it looked to 
me as though we would be getting in the war ourselves before 
very long. If we did get in it, I wanted him to let me take a 
combat outfit. I promised him that I would get the aircraft 
production speeded up but asked him not to make me stand 
around counting airplanes coming out of factories if we started 
shooting bullets for keeps. 

Hap refused to give me any definite promise right then but 
hinted quite strongly that if the production machinery were 
set up and operating satisfactorily he would not keep me out 
of the combat action. 

By February zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942, the program was getting into high gear. 
The aircraft output was already exceeding our fondest hopes 
and the curves on the charts were all spiraling upward. Hap 
called me at Detroit, where I was completing the final nego- 
tiations to put the Ford Company into the bomber manufac- 
turing business. It was a typical Arnold telephone call. 

“George, pack up and move to San Francisco and take over 
the Fourth Air Force. I want a lot of fighter and bomber units 
trained in a hurry, the offshore reconnaissance maintained, and 
I want to see that accident rate come down. Come in and see 
me tomorrow morning at ten o’clock and I’ll give you the 
whole story. By the way, I hope you will notice that I’m 
starting to keep my promise to you. Oh, yes, another thing. 
You will be promoted to major general by the time you get 
to California. Goodbye-see you tomorrow.” 

A couple of weeks later, with two stars on my shoulders, I 
arrived in San Francisco and took command of the Fourth Air 
Force. Now, only four months later, another telephone call 
was putting me on the move again. 

I sent for Brigadier General Barney Giles, who headed my 
Fourth Bomber Command, and my top staff officers and told 
them that I would be leaving the Fourth Air Force in a few 
days, that General Giles was the new boss, and that I expected zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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them to work even harder for him than they had for me as I 
had no authority to take any of them along where I was going. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
I told Barney to select the best colonel in his command to suc- 
ceed him and to put in a recommendation right away for his 
promotion which I would take to Washington with me; at the 
same time I would see what I could do to fix up Giles with a 
promotion to the rank of major general. 

The next job was to call my other two brigadier generals 
and explain to them that, while I had nothing against them and 
I considered their work eminently satisfactory, I believed 
Giles was the best of the three and better qualified to take 
over when I left. I told them that I expected them to serve 
Giles as loyally and zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA.as faithfully as they had me but that, if 
they did not want to carry on in their present assignments, 
I would do what I could to get General Arnold to place them 
where they wanted to go. They both assured me that I need 
not worry about the matter at all, that they had jobs to do and 
not only liked Giles but would do everything they could to 
make the Fourth Air Force a credit to its new commander. 
I had known they would but I felt much better after I had 
talked to them. After all, no one likes to be “passed over” by 
someone junior in length of service. 

Sunday afternoon, July I I th, I landed at Bolling Field with 
Major William Benn, my aide, and went over to Air Force 
Headquarters to see if I could find out anything. Arnold was 
not in, but I saw Major General “Joe” McNarney, an old 
friend of mine who was now Deputy to the Army Chief of 
Staff, General George C. Marshall. Joe told me I was going 
to Australia. MacArthur was not satisfied with Brett or with 
the way the Air Force was working. My name had been sub- 
mitted and MacArthur had said I was acceptable. Joe wished 
me luck and remarked that, from the reports coming out of 
that theater, I was going to need it. 

Lieutenant General George H. Brett had been General zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
9 
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Wavell’s deputy in the now disbanded American-British- 
Dutch-Australian Command. When the Japs ran the Allies out 
of Java in March zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1942, Wave11 had gone to India and Brett 
had taken over the Allied command in Australia. On Mac- 
Arthur’s arrival in that country a couple of weeks later, Brett, 
as the senior airman in the theater, became General Mac- 
Arthur’s Allied Air Force Commander. H e  had not had much 
to work with and his luck had been mostly bad. MacArthur’s 
Chief of Staff, Major General Richard Sutherland, and Brett 
had seldom seen eye to eye on anything. Brett’s own staff was 
nothing to brag about and that had not helped either. I had 
worked under Brett when he commanded the Air Materiel 
Division at Dayton a couple of years before and liked him a 
lot. I hoped they would give him a good job when he got 
back. General McNarney said he hadn’t heard what Brett 
was lined up for. 

I talked with McNarney at some length about the general 
situation. Europe was going to get the real play, with a big 
show going into North Africa that November to chase Rom- 
me1 and his Afrika Korps out of the area before they grabbed 
Egypt and the Suez Canal on one of their tank drives. 

The Pacific war would have to wait until Germany was dis- 
posed of before any major effort would be made against Japan. 
There simply were not enough men, materials, or shipping to 
run big-scale operations in Europe and the Far East at the same 
time, so the decision had been made to concentrate on defeat- 
ing Hitler and to take care of the other job later on. 

McNarney held out no encouragement that troops, aircraft, 
or supplies in any appreciable numbers or quantities would be 
sent to the Pacific for a long time to come. No wonder he 
wished me luck. 

The next day General Arnold took me into General Mar- 
shall’s office, where I was officially told about my new as- 
signment. My instructions were simply to report to General zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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MacArthur. Their analysis of the problems that zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI would be up 
against not only confirmed what I had heard from McNarney 
but sounded even worse. The thing that worried me most, 
however, was the casual way that everyone seemed to look at  

the Pacific part of the war. The possibility that the Japs would 
soon land in Australia itself was freely admitted and I sensed 
that, even if that country were taken over by the Nipponese, 
the real effort would still be made against Germany. 

I gathered that they thought there was already enough 
strength in the Pacific, and particularly in Australia, to main- 
tain a sort of “strategic defensive,” which was all that was ex- 
pected for the time being. Arnold said he had sent a lot of air- 
planes over there and a lot of supplies, but the reports indicated 
that most of the airplanes were out of commission and that 
there didn’t seem to be much flying going on. H e  said that 
Brett kept yelling for more equipment all the time, although 
he should have enough already to keep going. I was told that 
there were about 600 aircraft out there and that should be 
enough to fight a pretty good war with. Anyhow, while they 
would do what they could to help me out, they just had to 
build up the European show first. 

General Marshall said there were a lot of personality clashes 
that undoubtedly were causing a lot of trouble. I said I knew 
of some of them already and that I wanted authority to clean 
out the dead wood as I didn’t believe that much could be done 
to get moving with the collection of top officers that Brett had 
been given to work with. They told me that I would have to 
work that problem out with General MacArthur. I said I 
wished that they would wash the linen before I got out there 
and save me the trouble, but I didn’t get to first base with the 
suggestion. 

Luckily I would have two good brigadier generals to work 
with me as Ennis Whitehead and Ken Walker had already been 
ordered to Australia. I had known both of them for over 
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twenty years. They had brains, leadership, loyalty, and liked 
to work. If Brett had had them about three months earlier, his 
luck might have been a lot better. 

I stayed around Washington for three more days, absorbing 
all the data I could find in regard to the Southwest Pacific 
Area, I knew Arnold didn’t think much of the zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP-38 as a fighter 
plane, so it wasn’t hard to get him to assign me fifty of them 
with fifty pilots from the Fourth Air Force. I intended to 
make sure that a Lieutenant Richard I. Bong was one of the 
pilots. 

While looking around for anything that was not nailed 
down, I found that there were zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA3000 parachute fragmentation 
bombs in war reserve. No one else wanted them, so they were 
ordered shipped to Australia on the next boat. 

Back in 1928, in order to drop bombs in a low-altitude at- 
tack without having the fragments hit the airplane, I had put 
parachutes on the bombs; the parachutes opened as the bombs 
were released from the airplane. The parachute not only 
stopped the forward travel of the bomb, but slowly lowered 
it down to the ground while the airplane got out of range of 
the fragments by the time the bomb hit the ground and deto- 
nated. With a supersensitive fuze, which kicked the thing off 
instantaneously on contact with anything-even the leaf of a 
bush, the bomb was a wicked little weapon. It weighed about 
twenty-five pounds and broke up into around 1600 fragments 
the size of zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa man’s little finger. At a hundred yards from the 
point of impact these fragments would go through a two-inch 
plank. I had had a hard time getting the Air Corps or the Ord- 
nance to play with the thing, in spite of a dozen demonstrations 
I had put on. It was actually 1936 before an order of about zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
5000 was made up for service test. Everyone that used them 
was enthusiastic, but somehow or other the 3000 remaining 
got hidden away in war reserve and people gradually forgot 
about them. I think the Ordnance Department was actually 
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glad to get rid of them. But I was speculating about trying 
them out on some Jap airdrome and wondering if those frag- 
ments would tear airplanes apart-as well as Japs, too, if they 
didn’t get out zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAof the way. 

Hap Arnold told me that Major General Millard (Miff) 
Harmon, who had been his Chief of Staff, had been ordered to 

the South Pacific Theater, where, under Vice-Admiral Robert 
H. Ghormley, he was to command all Army troops, air and 
ground. He  was taking with him, to command his Army zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAir 
Force units, Brigadier General “Nate” Twining and severd 
colonels. W e  would all go out together in a Liberator bomber 
that had been converted into a sort of passenger carrier. Sort of 
-because they had dispensed with such luxuries as sound- 
proofing, cushioned seats, heating system, or windows to look 
out of. It might not be very comfortable, but I preferred it to 

spending a month on a boat. According to the present sched- 
ule, we would leave on July 21 from San Francisco for New 
Caledonia, via Hawaii-Canton Island-Fi ji. Miff and his gang 
would get off in New Caledonia, and Bill Benn and I were to 
have the plane to ourselves during the remainder of the trip 
to Australia. 

Among the multitude of people that I conferred with about 
the arrangements for sending airplanes, engines, propellers, 
and spare parts to Australia to keep my show going, was “Bill” 
Knudsen, the former president of General Motors, who had 
been called into government service to speed up production of 
war materials, particularly through mobilization of the auto- 
motive industry of the country. I had had a lot of dealings with 
him during the past two years, and besides admiring his meth- 
ods of getting things done, I had gotten very fond of him. W e  
liked each other. 

His ability in his field was unquestioned. His simple honesty, 
his sincerity, his unselfish patriotism, and his unfailing sense of 
humor endeared him to everyone. The country owed zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa lot to 
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William S. Knudsen, who had been made a lieutenant general 
a few months previously, with the additional title of Director zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
of War Production for the War Department. 

Bill had just come back to his office from a long conference 
which had consisted of a lot of talk but no decision. In that 
charmingly thick Danish accent of his, he told me about it and 
then suddenly said, “George, do you know what a conference 
is? zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA” 

I said, “Go ahead. I’m listening.” H e  grinned, hesitated a 
little, and gave me his definition. I still consider it a gem. It still 
fits most of them. 

“A conference is a gathering of guys that singly can do 
nothing and together decide that nothing can be done.” 

My favorite of all Bill Knudsen’s sayings, however, came 
one day in Washington when we were listening to an efficiency 
expert give us a lecture on speeding up the process of letting 
contracts to industry. In the course of the talk, he kept using 
the phrase, “Status quo.” After about ten repetitions of the two 
words, Knudsen nudged me and whispered, “George, do you 
hear that ‘status quo’ stuff? ” I nodded. Bill waited a few seconds 
and continued, “That’s Latin for what a hell of a zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfix we’re in.” 

The last thing I did before leaving Washington was to get 
Major William Benn fixed up with orders to go along with me zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
as my aide. 

I inherited Benn as an aide when I took over the Fourth Air 
Force. It wasn’t long before I found out that he was much 
more than the generally accepted version of a general’s aide. 
I could open my own doors and put on my own overcoat 
without any help, so I “fired” Benn as aide and ordered him to 
take over a heavy-bombardment squadron that needed a leader 
to put it on its feet. In a week that squadron was the best in the 
Fourth Air Force. Benn had leadership, energy, new ideas, and 
enthusiasm to burn. In addition, he was a lot of help as a per- 
sonal staff assistant. That was the kind of aide I really needed, zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
so when Arnold told me I was leaving San Francisco, I recalled 
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Benn from command of his squadron and now zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI insisted on tak- 
ing him with me to Australia. A general is supposed to have an 
aide, so Arnold said I could take him along. Benn grinned when 
I told him the news and asked how long I thought he would 
hold the job this time. I told him not to buy any more aide’s 
insignia until I told him to. H e  would be a lot of help to me in 
lots of ways but I had a hunch that I was going to need some 
young commanders out there and Bill Benn had the makings 
of a real star performer. 

On July 16, I said goodbye to Hap Arnold, and Benn and 
I flew back to San Francisco. 

During the next five days, I wound up my affairs in San Fran- 
cisco and packed for the move. I was not sorry to leave but 
my job on the West Coast had been a pleasant one. General 
DeWitt was a prince to deal with. He  believed in this loyalty 
business working both ways. He  definitely had a mind of his 
own and a temper that was a joy to watch in operation, but he 
was a square shooter and his decisions were sound. He  told you 
what he wanted done and then let you alone to produce results. 
W e  got along together fine, in spite of my complicated assign- 

ment. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1 was responsible to DeWitt for the air defense of the 
West Coast and the offshore reconnaissance. At the same time, 
I was training fighter and bomber groups under General Ar- 
nold. W e  combined the two missions as far as possible and 
worked out a fairly respectable solution. The bomber crews 
learned navigation, instrument flying, and reconnaissance by 
performing offshore patrols to distances seaward up to zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA500 

miles. If a submarine or a suspicious wake or a trail of oil were 
sighted, the airplane passed the word ashore, giving the posi- 
tion, and then circled the suspicious spot until a destroyer or 
some other type of antisubmarine vessel arrived to take up the 
hunt with its sound-detecting apparatus and depth-bombing 
charges. Once in a while the bomber would get a chance to 
drop its bombs, but most of the time the coup de grace zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAwas left 
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to zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAthe surface vessel. This scheme of handling the submarine 
menace, later known as the “hunter-killer” method, became 
standard procedure throughout the war in both the Atlantic 
and the Pacific. 

With all flying, both military and civilian, in the states of 
California, Oregon, and Washington under my control, we 
had plenty of opportunity to train the fighters in interception 
of other aircraft in the air. Fighter control centers were estab- 
lished in Seattle, Washington, Portland, Oregon, San Francisco, 
Los Angeles, and San Diego; into them was fed a continuous 
stream of information from thousands of volunteer civilian 
ground observers, who telephoned aircraft sightings in to the 
nearest control center. At these centers, where all air traffic 
was plotted by more civilian volunteers working in shifts 
twenty-four hours a day, Air Force, Navy, and civil airline 
controllers identified the aircraft from flight schedules. Mark- 
ers representing the airplanes were kept moving over a huge 
flat map of the area by the plotters, in accordance with the in- 
formation coming in from the ground-observer stations. All 
flight schedules had to be furnished us and approved before an 
airplane could fly in our area of responsibility. If an airplane 
was sighted which could not be identified by any of our con- 
trollers, fighters from one of my airdromes were dispatched zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
to intercept the intruder and escort him to the nearest landing 
field for identification. The  scheme worked with surprisingly 
little interference with either military or civil air traffic. Once 
in a while someone would neglect to notify us of a flight and 
would find himself forced down. I remember one time “Tom” 
Girdler, the steel tycoon, who had a private plane and who 
had just taken over the management of Consolidated Aircraft 
at  San Diego, decided that he could cross the Arizona-Califor- 
nia line and visit his own factory without asking any permission 
from anyone. Our fighters picked him up, called his pilot on 
the radio, and ordered the plane landed at a nearby airdrome. 
A little hesitancy on the part of Girdler’s pilot prompted the 
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observation that the fighters’ guns were loaded and the argu- 
ment was settled immediately. Mr. Girdler didn’t quite ap- 
prove and so stated rather forcibly on landing, but our fighter 
pilot acted as a well-bred policeman should, explained the sys- 
tem and the fact that he was simply carrying out his orders. 
H e  then called the Los Angeles control center, received per- 

mission for Mr. Girdler to proceed, and escorted him all the 
way to San Diego. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAI saw Tom a couple of days later. Much to 
my gratification, he was loud in his praises of the youngster 
and the system. H e  said he had not understood the situation or 
he would never have tried to crash through and, with his plant 
so close to a possible raid from some clandestine base which 
Jap agents might have established in Lower California, he was 
glad that our surveillance and control were that good. 

On another occasion Admiral McCain, in charge of the Na- 
val Base at San Diego, found himself intercepted on the way 
to Los Angeles when his operations officer at  the Navy field 
at San Diego neglected to notify either the Los Angeles or the 
San Diego control center of the flight.‘McCain zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAwas also a bit 
more than annoyed at first, but, when he found out whose fault 
it was, he promptly replaced the off ending operations officer. 

Our radar warning service was a bit sketchy. W e  had only 
six sets to cover the whole West Coast from Seattle to San 
Diego and some of our operators were still learning how to 

operate their equipment. Our fighters took off on many wild- 
goose chases to intercept “big formations of unknown aircraft” 
spotted out over the Pacific and presumably coming from a 
Jap aircraft carrier. W e  never found these “enemy” attackers, 
but it was good practice for the fighters, to see how fast they 
could get going, and for the bombers, who would load their 
bombs and go on the alert to take off as soon as the “enemy” 
carrier could be located. One morning it looked like the real 
thing. The radar scope clearly showed a lot of “spots” at  fairly 
low altitude about fifty miles due west of the Golden Gate. In 
less than five minutes our whole available fighter force in the 
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San zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAFrancisco Bay area, totaling about 35 P-38s, was roaring 
out over the Pacific for the big “kill.” All fighter and bomber 
squadrons on the West Coast were alerted and told to stand by 
for orders. A half hour later, I called everything off and told 
the gang to go back to breakfast. An incoming vessel had un- 
loaded its garbage at the point where the radar operator had 
observed the “enemy” formation, and a few thousand sea gulls, 
wheeling and diving at this welcome meal, had been picked 
up on the radar scope and caused the illusion. The kids were 
disgusted, but I was just as well satisfied. It zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAwas not time yet 
to send my green fighter pilots-who were just learning how 
to fly the P-38 and who knew practically nothing of aerial 
gunnery-up against the seasoned Nip veterans of the Pearl 
Harbor, Manila, and Hong Kong operations. 

The  day before I was to take off for Australia, I went over 
to General DeWitt’s headquarters to say goodbye. H e  was 
very complimentary about my show under him and said how 
sorry he was to have me leave but that he knew how I felt 
about going to a real combat theater. Said he wished he were 
going with me. H e  showed me a message that he had sent to 
General MacArthur the day I had returned from Washington 
and told him where I was going. The message read: “Major 
General George C. Kenney Air Corps has received orders re- 
lieving him from duty Fourth Air Force this command and 
directing him report you for assignment stop Regret to lose 
him but congratulate you stop He is a practical experienced 
flyer with initiative comma highly qualified professionally 
comma good head comma good judgment and common 
sense stop High leadership qualities clear conception of or- 
ganization and ability to apply it stop Cooperative loyal 
dependable with fine personality stop Best general officer in 
Air Force I know qualified for high command stop Has 
demonstrated this here stop Best wishes.” 

DeWitt then grinned and said, “Now read this,” and handed 
me MacArthur’s slightly “I’m from Missouri” answer: “Per- 
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sonal for General DeWitt stop Appreciate deeply your fine 
wire and am delighted at your high professional opinion of 
Kenney stop He will have every opportunity here for the 
complete application of highest qualities of generalship stop 
Wish you and the Fourth Army could join me here we need zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
you badly.” 

W e  both chuckled over it, shook hands, and wished each 
other luck for the duration. 

At zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA9: 30,  the evening of July zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA2 I ,  with Major General Miff 
Harmon and his staff, Bill Benn and I took off from Hamilton 
Field, about thirty miles north of San Francisco, and headed 
west for Hickam Field, Oahu, Hawaiian Islands. 

Shortly after daybreak the next morning we circled Pearl 
Harbor and landed at  Hickam Field. While Pearl Harbor still 
showed the scars of the Jap attack of last December 7, with the 
Oklahoma still lying capsized on the bottom and the Arizona 
a tangled mass of twisted wreckage sticking up out of the 
water, the whole island of Oahu was bustling with activity. 
Both Army and Navy had certainly become “shelter” con- 
scious. Everybody seemed to be digging in. Fuel storage tanks 
were being installed underground. A complete underground 
headquarters was in operation by the Army Air Force and a 

huge air depot and engine overhaul plant was being con- 
structed by tunneling into the side of a mountain. 

Hickam Field and Wheeler Field, the two Army airdromes 
at the time of the big Jap attack, still showed the effects of 
the disaster. Hangars, barracks and warehouses, burned and 
wrecked during the bombing, had not yet been rebuilt. There 
was no doubt about it, Hawaii had been in the war and, from 
all the digging going on, they had not forgotten it either. 

When I asked about the news of the war out where I was 
going, I learned that, the day we left San Francisco, the Japs 
had made a new landing on the north coast of New Guinea 
at a place called Buna and had started driving the Australians 
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back along the trail over the Owen Stanley Mountains toward 
Port Moresby. MacArthur’s communique spoke of the landing 
being opposed by our aircraft, which had sunk some vessels 

but had not stopped the invasion. I figured that it probably 
meant more trouble for me. Anyhow I’d find out in a few days. 

On the tqth, we flew to Canton Island and spent the night 

at the Pan American Hotel which had been taken over by the 
Navy, who had done a real job blasting a channel through the 
coral reef to get an anchorage for vessels and building an ex- 
cellent flying field on the atoll itself. A squadron of Army Air 
Force P-39 fighters was stationed there for protection from 
Jap air attack, although the Nips had no airdromes within op- 
erating range. If an aircraft carrier should get close enough to  

threaten the place, this one P-3 9 squadron couldn’t do anything 
about it except be the gesture of defense that it really was. zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAs 
a matter of fact, if the Japs had really wanted Canton Island, 
they wouldn’t have needed much of an expedition to take it. 
It was practically defenseless against any decently organized 
attack. 

The next day we arrived at Nandi in the Fiji Islands about 
eleven o’clock in the morning. W e  taxied up in front of a 
hangar, stopped the engines, got out, and looked around to see 
if anyone lived in the place. W e  had been in radio communica- 
tion, but there certainly was no welcoming party for General 

Miff Harmon, the new commander of the South Pacific Thea- 
ter, which included Fiji. After about fifteen minutes, a young 
lieutenant hurriedly drove up in a jeep and asked for General 
Harmon. Miff identified himself and was handed a message 
from the colonel commanding the Nandi Base, saying that he 
would see him at mess at  I zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA2: 30, as at the moment he was tak- 
ing a sun bath. Miff handed me the note without saying a 
word. I read it and handed it back to him, also without a word. 
Miff put it in his pocket and said, “Let’s go find where we are 
going to stay and where they serve that mess the colonel 
mentioned.” 
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11. WITH MAcARTHUR IN AUSTRALIA zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
August, 1942 

WE HAD zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAexcellent weather all the way from 
New Caledonia, which gave us a chance to appreciate the 
beautiful blue water of Australia’s east coast and the startling 
green colors around the pink and white coral reefs offshore. 
The land itself made you feel at home. Here were well-kept 
farms and villages, beaches that looked as though they were 
used as summer resorts, and rivers with wharves and boats on 
them. After all the water, atolls, and jungle-covered islands 
I had seen for the past week I was glad to be arriving among 
people and civilization again. 

W e  crossed the coastline, flew inland across the city of Bris- 
bane, Australia’s third largest city, sprawling on both sides of 
a river and looking to be about the size of Cincinnati, Ohio. 
With its multi-storied business district, apartment houses, and 
the outskirt fringe dotted with bungalow-type single houses, 
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